1963

Utah Parks Co. v. Iron County and Cedar City Corp. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a suit pursuant to Section 59-10-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, for a refund of property taxes illegally collected from plaintiff by Iron County; or in the alternative, a reimbursement to plaintiff of said tax payment from Cedar City Corporation, pursuant to a provision in a warranty deed wherein plaintiff transferred the El Escalante Hotel and underlying realty at Cedar City, Utah, to Cedar City Corporation, which deed provided that Cedar City would assume and pay all taxes lawfully levied upon or assessed against said premises.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court granted Iron County's motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and awarded a judgment of dismissal in favor of Cedar City Corporation on an agreed statement of facts. Plaintiff appeals from both judgments.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment of dismissal in favor of Iron County and a judgment in its favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a reinstatement of its complaint against Iron County in the trial court for further proceedings; or in the alternative, a reversal of the judgment of dismissal in favor of Cedar City Corporation and judgment in favor of plaintiff as a matter of law.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The brief of appellant covers both Case No. 9540 and Case No. 9753. When this lawsuit was initially filed in the trial court it included both respondent parties as defendants and relief was sought against said defendants in the alternative, the causes of action against each being mutually exclusive. The action against Iron County was concluded in the trial court approximately one year before the action was concluded against Cedar City Corporation. As a result, two separate appeals became necessary, and upon perfection of the second appeal, an order of consolidation was entered in this court. In the Statement of Facts, none of which were in issue, the

citations to the two records will be distinguished by placing an asterisk following the record citations from Case No. 9753 involving Cedar City Corporation.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff is a Utah corporation, Iron County, a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State of Utah, and Cedar City Corporation is a municipal corporation organized and existing by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah. All three entities were duly constituted as such during all times mentioned herein. On January 1, 1958, plaintiff was the record and actual owner of the El Escalante Hotel, together with all furniture and fixtures and underlying realty, at Cedar City, Iron County, State of Utah. On January 31st of that year, and prior to the tax levy for the year 1958, plaintiff transferred and conveyed title to said hotel, furnishings and underlying realty, by warranty deed to defendant, Cedar City Corporation, a municipality exempt from taxation pursuant to the Utah State Constitution. (R. 1) and (R. 21)*

The warranty deed transferred title to the hotel and underlying realty to Cedar City Corporation free of all liens and encumbrances, except as specifically contained therein, and Cedar City Corporation also accepted said property subject to the following covenant:

“All taxes and all assessments, general and special, and all installments of assessments lawfully levied upon or assessed against the premises hereinbefore described which become due and payable subsequent to the date hereof, which taxes and assessments the grantee (Cedar City Cor-

poration) hereby assumes and agrees to pay.”
(R. 2) (R. 12-15, 21)*

As the record owner of said hotel and underlying realty on January 1, 1958, the ad valorem tax assessment and levy for that year was made and processed in the name of plaintiff, and plaintiff also received the valuation and tax notices on said property. The total assessed valuation for the year 1958 on the El Escalante Hotel building, the underlying realty and the furniture and fixtures, was \$110,670. That valuation was subjected to a 64 mill levy, making the tax for the year 1958 the sum of \$7,082.88. On or about November 26, 1958, plaintiff paid the Iron County Treasurer, without protest, the 1958 taxes assessed and levied against said property in the total sum of \$7,082.88. (R. 2) (R. 11, 22)*

Thereafter, and based upon Cedar City Corporation's covenant and obligation under the warranty deed to pay all taxes and assessments lawfully levied or assessed against said premises which became due and payable subsequent to January 31, 1958, plaintiff requested reimbursement of said tax payment from Cedar City Corporation. By letter dated November 11, 1959, Cedar City Corporation advised plaintiff that it refused to make such reimbursement. (R. 16, 22)*

Plaintiff also made written application for a refund of said taxes to the Board of County Commissioners of Iron County on or about July 30, 1959, acting pursuant to Section 59-10-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides in part, as follows:

“Any taxes, interest and costs paid more than once, or erroneously or illegally collected,

may, by order of the board of county commissioners be refunded by the county treasurer * * *’.

Plaintiff’s application to the Board of County Commissioners of Iron County was denied on or about September 17, 1959, on the ground said taxes had been lawfully assessed, levied and collected. (R. 2)

Following the refusal of Cedar City Corporation to make reimbursement under the provision in the warranty deed, and the denial of plaintiff’s application for a refund by the Board of County Commissioners of Iron County, plaintiff commenced suit against both parties seeking relief against Iron County on the ground said taxes were erroneously or illegally collected, and, in the alternative, against Cedar City Corporation on the ground said taxes were collected pursuant to lawful assessment and levy.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE PROPERTY TAXES PAID BY UTAH PARKS COMPANY TO THE IRON COUNTY TREASURER ON THE EL ESCALANTE HOTEL AND UNDERLYING REALTY FOR THE YEAR 1958 WERE ERRONEOUSLY AND ILLEGALLY COLLECTED AND SHOULD THEREFORE BE REFUNDED BY IRON COUNTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 59-10-14, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

In view of the trial court’s order granting Iron County’s motion to dismiss plaintiff’s complaint, this court on review is obliged to survey the allegations set

forth therein in the light most favorable to plaintiff and to indulge in its favor all reasonable inferences as to proof that may be adduced thereunder. It is the policy of this court to be reluctant to turn a party out of court without trial and it can be done justifiably only if the party could not in any event establish a right to recover. *King Bros., Inc. vs. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, Utah (2d), 374 P. (2d) 254, (1962).

Plaintiff's theory of an erroneous and illegal collection by Iron County under the provisions of Section 59-10-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is predicated upon the exemption status afforded Cedar City Corporation by Article 13, Section 2, of the Constitution of Utah, upon all tangible property owned by the said Cedar City Corporation.

That Section provides in part:

“All tangible property in the state, not exempt under the laws of the United States, or under this constitution, shall be taxed in proportion to its value, to be ascertained as provided by law. The property of the state, counties, cities, towns, school districts, municipal corporations and public libraries, lots with buildings thereon used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes, and places of burial not held or used for private or corporate benefit, shall be exempt from taxation.”

The exempt status of property owned by municipal corporations, or other public entities, for the entire taxable year, is not questioned. The difficulty arises in this case from the fact that the transfer of the property involved, from a taxable grantor to an exempt grantee,

occurred during the taxable year. The tax status of that property under such a transfer, is the real crux of this lawsuit.

Constitutional exemption from taxation as a basis for refund of taxes paid to a county on a voluntary basis, on the theory the collection was illegal, is not unprecedented in this state. The point was ruled upon in *Neilson vs. Sanpete County*, 40 Utah 560, 123 P. 334, (1912). There an action was commenced against Sanpete County to recover taxes which had been voluntarily paid, on the ground the assessment, levy and collection of the tax was illegal and invalid. The tax was upon certain real estate mortgages for the years 1907, 1908 and 1909. Prior to 1906 the legislature was authorized by the State Constitution to provide for taxation of mortgages. However, in that year the Constitution was amended to eliminate and exempt mortgages from taxation. The taxpayer alleged that since the mortgages were exempt from taxation by the State Constitution, the taxes assessed and levied thereon were illegal and void. The Supreme Court agreed. It also held that the proper recourse for recovery was pursuant to the voluntary refund statute and that payment under protest was unnecessary.

It seems clear from the holding in the *Neilson* case that if property enjoys a tax exempt status during the entire taxable year, any attempt at assessment, levy or collection of the tax thereon would be illegal and void, and that a refund from a Board of County Commissioners under the voluntary refund statute, upon proper demand therefor, would be mandatory. In this regard the only material variation between the *Neilson* case and

the present case is the fact that the exempt entity did not acquire the property until January 31, 1958, one month after January 1, 1958, the date upon which the County Assessor must assess all property subject to taxation to the person by whom it is owned and at its value on that date (Section 59-5-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953), and one month after the inchoate tax lien had attached to said property. (Section 59-10-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953). Therefore, it must be determined whether the acquisition of title to the hotel property by Cedar City Corporation on January 31, 1958, would defeat the application of the *Neilson* holding, and prevent plaintiff from making a recovery from Iron County. See also *Wey vs. Salt Lake City*, 35 Utah 504, 101 P. 381 (1909).

There appears to be two arguments under Utah law for concluding that the collection of the tax in this case by Iron County was illegal and void and that a refund from the County should be allowed:

(1) The inchoate lien created by statute on January 1, 1958, at the time of assessment never matured into a valid and enforceable lien prior to acquisition of title to the property by the exempt grantee;

(2) The title to property transferred to an exempt entity in Utah is subject to taxes only when said taxes have been both lawfully assessed and lawfully levied against the property prior to acquisition by the exempt entity.

Numerous cases have held that the validity of an inchoate lien which attached to property on a given date provided by statute is wholly dependent upon a sub-

sequent lawful levy. The lien matures and becomes enforceable only after a lawful levy on the theory of a relation back to the statutory lien date. Thus, by virtue of the property passing into tax exempt hands before the levy takes place, the attempted levy and subsequent collection, if any, of the tax, has no legal effect. It is completely void. No tax lien ever matures. This is because the creation of a valid tax lien presupposes the existence of a susceptible subject of taxation at every stage of the process of creation.

The principle of relation back was applied and followed in *Gillmor vs. Dale*, 27 Utah 372, 75 P. 932 (1904). In that case action was commenced to recover taxes collected by the Treasurer of Salt Lake County and paid to Salt Lake City Corporation. The property involved had been assessed pursuant to statute as of the first Monday in February and, also pursuant to statute, an inchoate lien attached at that time. On May 20, 1902, a portion of the territory of Salt Lake City was disconnected and discharged from payment of taxes to Salt Lake City. Thereafter on July 28, 1902, the Salt Lake City Council levied a tax on the property owned by plaintiff which was located in the disconnected area. The Treasurer contended that the tax for 1902, although not levied until after the detachment of the territory from the City, was, nevertheless, a valid unpaid lien upon the property prior to detachment by virtue of the tax lien statutes. The Supreme Court disagreed. It held that by disconnection the property was no longer subject to a tax levy or any jurisdiction whatever by the City and the property involved never became subject to the tax

lien contended for by the County Treasurer by virtue of the state taxation statutes. The court cites with approval the rule that no tax or assessment can exist so as to become a lien or encumbrance upon real property until the amount thereof is ascertained and determined, and then states:

“Under the provisions of the Revised Statutes a city tax does not become a lien on real estate until the rate thereof is fixed, and the tax levied, in pursuance of sections 239, 2694; but when the rate is so fixed, the amount determined and levied, a lien on each tract of real estate assessed by the assessor attaches, by relation, for the amount of the tax thereon ‘as of the first Monday of February’ preceding the levy. (Citing cases).

“The city council was not authorized, either under the Constitution or by the provisions of the Revised Statutes, to levy a tax, except on property within its corporate limits, and any levy upon property not within such limits is without authority and void. As no lien can exist for taxes illegally levied, the appellant’s (treasurer’s) contention in respect to the lien claimed in this case is untenable.”

The relation back principle was also mentioned in *Anson vs. Ellison*, 104 Utah 576, 140 P. (2d) 653 (1943). In that case an action to quiet title to property was commenced and Salt Lake City was made a party defendant on the ground it claimed an interest in the property by virtue of a special assessment which it claimed constituted a lien on the property.

On the principle of relation back, the court said:

“... a valid lien will not arise from an invalid levy and assessment. Although it may be that

when a tax is subsequently properly levied the lien may relate back to the 1st day of January of the year in which the proper levy should have been made.”

A case similar on its material facts to the one before us on the question of relation back is *State vs. Snohomish County*, 71 Wash. 320, 128 P. 667 (1912). In that case the State of Washington commenced action to cancel tax certificates and to quiet title to lands which it had purchased from private owners as a site for the Washington State Reformatory. A portion of the property was purchased on May 8, 1907, and two other parcels on August 9, 1907. After purchase the Snohomish County Treasurer issued delinquency certificates for failure to pay the 1907 taxes in the name of the record owner as of March 1, 1907.

The State Constitution exempted all property belonging to the State from taxation and the state statute establishing the tax lien provided that taxes assessed upon real property on March 1st were a lien from that date until paid. The levy did not take place until after title to the property had passed to the State. The issue was whether real estate in private ownership on March 1, 1907, but in public ownership when the taxes for that year were levied, was subject to the payment of such taxes.

The court held that the statute declaring taxes assessed upon real property was a lien from March 1st of the year in which they are levied, makes the lien incipient and inchoate and becomes a mature and enforce-

able lien as of that date only by relation back upon the making of a valid levy.

In support of its holding the court cites the Utah case of *Gillmor vs. Dale*, *supra*. The following language at page 669, states the doctrine clearly:

“Obviously the doctrine of relation presupposes a valid creation. It seems equally plain that the creation of a valid tax implies the existence of a susceptible subject of taxation at every stage of the process of such creation. Since, on general principles of public policy and by both constitutional declaration and statutory enactment, lands while held in public ownership are exempt from taxation, the land here in question was not, during any step in the proceedings creating the tax after August 9, 1907, when it passed to the state, a susceptible subject of taxation. It follows that at that time the developing process of imposing the tax as a valid creation was arrested. * * * ‘Lands acquired for public purposes during the period between the first and final steps of taxation are exempt from taxes levied during the year in which they are acquired.’ *Territory of Arizona vs. Perrin*, 9 Ariz. 316, 320, 83 Pac. 361, 362; *United States v. Pierce County*, *supra*; *Bannon vs. Burnes*, *supra*; *Gillmor vs. Dale*, *supra*.

“There is no distinction in this respect between purchases by the United States and purchases by the state or a municipality for strictly public uses, as is shown by the Louisiana and Utah cases above cited. We are constrained to hold that the statute (Rem. & Bal. Code Sec. 9235) creating the lien as to real property taxes makes the lien only incipient or inchoate on March 1st to become a complete and enforceable lien as of

that date by relation only upon the making of a valid levy."

In support of this view, see also *City of Portland vs. Multnomah County*, 135 Or. 469, 296 P. 48 (1931); *City and County of Denver et al. vs. Tax Research Bureau*, 101 Colo. 140, 71 P. (2d) 809 (1937); *City of Laurel vs. Weems*, 100 Miss. 335, 56 So. 451 (1911); and *United States vs. Certain Lands*, 29 F. Supp. 92 (1939).

In Utah the County Assessor must, before April 15th of each year, assess all taxable property as of January 1st (Section 59-5-4, U.C.A., 1953); the tax becomes a lien against the property assessed as of that day (Section 59-10-3, U.C.A., 1953); the county levy occurs between the last Monday in July and the second Monday in August (Section 59-9-6, U.C.A., 1953); and thereafter the County Treasurer furnishes the taxpayer with notice of the amount of tax assessed against him (Section 59-10-10, U.C.A., 1953). In this case the title passed to Cedar City Corporation on January 31, 1958, prior to the tax levy and prior to notice to the plaintiff of the amount of tax assessed against it. Under the principle of the *Gillmor* case, *supra*, no valid tax lien ever attached to the hotel property in 1958 and the levy upon the property and collection of the tax by Iron County was without authority, and, therefore, illegal and void. With no basis to relate the inchoate lien back to January 1st, the exempt status of the property prevailed for the entire year and the holding in the *Neilson* case, *supra*, would be applicable.

In this case plaintiff did not pay the taxes under protest, pursuant to Section 59-11-11, Utah Code Anno-

tated, 1953. If payment under protest was necessary under the facts of this case, plaintiff concedes that it has no remedy against Iron County. However, we believe the facts and circumstances of this case properly qualify it for a refund under the voluntary payment statute, Section 59-10-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Both provisions were construed in detail in the *Neilson* case, *supra*. After a lengthy analysis of the proper scope and application of each, the court concluded that taxes assessed and levied upon exempt property, even though in the regular manner, are absolutely illegal and void, and are properly recoverable by the taxpayer from the county pursuant to Section 59-10-14, U.C.A., 1953.

The question of whether special taxes assessed by a city against exempt property must be paid under protest was before the court in *Wey vs. Salt Lake City*, 35 Utah 504, 101 P. 381 (1901). In that case Salt Lake City levied a special tax on lands abutting on a street to pay for the expense of paving and improving it. The Board of Education owned land abutting on the street and failed to pay the assessment. By statute all property owned by the Board was exempt from special taxes. It later sold the property involved to the plaintiff who filed suit against Salt Lake City to annul the assessment on the ground the property was exempt from the special tax. The trial court granted judgment to the plaintiff and on appeal the Supreme Court affirmed.

Among its defenses the city urged that if the property was exempt from the assessment, the Board's

only remedy was to pay the tax under protest and bring action for a recovery pursuant to what is now Section 10-7-39, U.C.A., 1953. That provision requires a taxpayer assessed with a special tax by a city or town to pay the same under protest and file notice that he intends to sue to recover the payment. It further provides that such remedy is exclusive. The court, however, held that such statute had no application where the property involved was exempt from the assessment.

Under the *Gillmor* principle no valid tax lien ever attached to the property in the present case and, therefore, as a matter of law, it was not subject to taxation for the year 1958. The exempt nature of the grantee, who acquired the property after January 1st, but prior to the levy, impressed that property with complete tax immunity for the entire year and the collection thereof was illegal and void. Therefore, this case falls within the holdings of the *Neilson* case and the *Wey* case as to the nature of plaintiff's claim against Iron County, and plaintiff is entitled to proceed against Iron County under the voluntary payment statute. See also *Wilson vs. Weber County*, 100 Utah 141, 111 P. (2d) 147 (1941); and *Shea vs. State Tax Commission*, 101 Utah 209, 120 P. (2d) 274 (1941).

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