1962

Utah Parks Co. v. Iron County and Cedar City Corp. : Brief of Respondent Iron County

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

Point I.

THE TAX ASSESSED AND PAID BY THE APPELLANT WAS A LEGAL ASSESSMENT AND CANNOT NOW BE RECOVERED.

The claim of the plaintiff-appellant is that although the real property in question was owned by it on January 1, 1958, before the taxes for that year were subsequently levied and assessed, the property was conveyed to the other defendant, Cedar City Corporation, an exempt governmental body. Therefore, the lien that attached on January 1, 1958 never ripened into a valid assessment and therefore, the taxes for that year were illegal and void. This claim is clearly untenable and is based upon a legal fiction and unsound reasoning.

Most states by statute provide for a time certain when real property will bear taxes for that particular year. The Utah Statute is Section 59-10-3, U. C. A. which provides as follows:

“Every tax upon real property is a lien against the property assessed; and every tax due upon improvements upon real estate assessed to other than the owner of the real estate is a lien upon the land and improvements; which several liens attach as of the 1st day of January of each year.”

Also, Section 59-5-4, U. C. A. 1953 provides as follows:

“The county assessor must, before the 15th day of April of each year, ascertain the names of all taxable inhabitants and all property in the county subject to taxation except such as is required to be assessed by the State Tax Commission and must assess such property to the person by whom it was owned or claimed, or in whose possession or control it was, at 12 o'clock m. of the first day of January next preceding, and at its value on that date”

It is necessary that there be some date certain as to what property and when it shall bear taxes as the county officers must be guided by some specific date. The above quoted sections setting a definite date must have had in mind that property could and would be transferred during the calendar year and it is submitted that is the main reason why a definite date is fixed. Subsequent sections to

those above quoted set forth the manner and procedure for assessing and collecting taxes for the various county officers. When these statutes provide that a county assessor shall assess property to the owner as of January 1 and that the lien attaches as of this date, the statutes can only mean what they say in clear, precise terms. But the plaintiff-appellant claims that something more should be read into the statutes which is that the Legislature meant that the lien of taxes attaches as of January 1 only if a valid assessment and levy is thereafter made and that if the owner conveys the property away before the assessment then the owner of January 1 cannot be required to pay. But it should make no difference whether the property is conveyed away or not as the property must bear the taxes and some one will have to pay. It so happens in this case that the new owner of the property after January 31 was a public body, Cedar City Corporation, normally exempt from taxation and without question would have been for all subsequent years. But the appellant's argument is sufficiently broad that it would make no difference whether the new owner was a public body or not because under its theory, the same rule would apply as between two private owners. The rationale of appellant's argument is that if the property is transferred **after** the lien date but **before** the assessment date, the old owner cannot be required to pay and this would seem to be appellant's argument whether the new owner was a public body or not. If appellant's contention is the law, then every time there is a transfer of property after January 1 but before the county levy is made between the last Monday in July and the second Monday in August, the old owner could claim that he could not be assessed as he did not own the property when it was assessed and the new owner could claim that since he did not own the property on January 1 he would not have to pay and in every case both the old and new owner could question the validity of the tax. This would be so whether the new owner was a public body or not. It should be obvious to anyone that such a situation was never intended by our legislature.

If the property was in private ownership as of January 1 the mere fact that it was transferred to a public body prior to assessment should in no way interrupt the taxing process. All of the authorities relied upon by appellant merely held that as to whether a valid lien attaches as of January 1 of each year depends upon there subsequently being a valid levy and assessment. This respondent sub-

mits that this condition was complied with and that there was a subsequent assessment and the fact that the property was then in public ownership has nothing to do with the case. This is particularly so when the new owner accepted the property under a condition that it assume and pay all taxes legally assessed.

To more clearly show the fallacy in the argument of the plaintiff, suppose that in this case the property in question had been transferred by the plaintiff to the defendant Cedar City Corporation on July 31, 1958 instead of January 31. This would have been before the County made its levy. The plaintiff would have had the use and occupancy of the property for seven months of the year and would have had all the benefits of the property, including making any profit therefrom but would have been able to escape the payment of any taxes for that year simply by the process of conveying it to an exempt public body after seven months of the year had elapsed. For the County to get any taxes for the year it would be compelled to apportion the taxes based upon ownership, assuming it had the power to do so.

Another vital point should be here considered. The payment of taxes, although admittedly an onerous burden, goes right to the foundation of all government. In fact no government could survive without them, particularly a County which usually has no other means of raising revenue. If property owners are permitted to dodge property taxes by the method claimed by appellant, it strikes right at the foundation of government itself and this cannot be permitted.

Furthermore, if transferring of property during the year was intended to be taken into consideration in determining who would pay taxes, there would be statutory authority and machinery for apportioning taxes but instead of any such statutory authority in our code, a definite date is set, January 1, as to when the property shall bear taxes and the only concern of the county officers is to determine the owner as of that date and assess accordingly.

As to whether a transfer of property after the lien date but before the assessment date, and even to a public body makes any difference has been ruled upon in a number of cases and contrary to the theory of the appellant. The case of *Logan vs. Luukinen*, 231 Pac. 184 (Ore.) held as follows:

"The rule supported by the authorities is that when the statute declares a lien from a certain date, the lien is an encumbrance although the amount of the lien may not yet be determined or collectible. When determined, the lien dates by relation by the date fixed by statute."

Also in *Broadway-Madison Corporation vs. Fisher*, 102 Pac. 2d 194, (Ore.) it was held:

"The accrual of the tax occurs on the date when there arises a liability to pay such taxes and not when the mechanics of computing the amount of taxes have been completed or when the tax is due and payable."

The case of *City of Santa Monica vs. Los Angeles County*, 115 Pac. 945 also held that it made no difference as to a transfer of property after the lien had attached and that the owner on the lien date must pay the taxes. Likewise, the U. S. Supreme Court in the case of *United States vs. Alabama*, 313 U. S. 274 which was a case in which the United States acquired land subsequent to the tax date but prior to the date of levy. The state of Alabama claimed the tax lien effective even though the land passed into government ownership afterward and the Supreme Court so held and the tax was held to be legal and collectible.

The Utah case of *Gillmor vs. Dale*, 75 Pac. 932 is relied upon strongly by the appellant to support its contentions. There certain property which had been within the corporate limits of Sale Lake City was segregated from the City by a segregation suit. The decree in the segregation suit was entered by the District Court in May of the year in question, which would be after the tax date, which was then the first Monday in February but before the levy. The decree in the segregation suit expressly provided that the property disconnected from the city would bear no taxes. In other words, there is a valid court judgment expressly exempting the property from taxes from the date of the judgment. This could have, and, from the court's language, did have considerable weight in holding as the court did. Furthermore, there is another vital distinguishing feature which is that the taxes in question were paid under protest and this will be discussed under respondent's Point No. III.

Point No. II.

IF THE APPELLANT HAS ANY RIGHT OF RECOVERY, IT IS ONLY AS AGAINST THE DEFENDANT CEDAR CITY CORPORATION.

The respondent Iron County contends and believes the authorities above cited so show that the tax in question was legally levied and assessed and that some one will have to pay the taxes for the year 1958. If not the appellant, then it will have to be the new owner, Cedar City Corporation. On this particular point, this respondent joins in the brief of the appellant and specifically to Point II of the Appellant's brief. It would serve no purpose in this brief to reiterate the argument of the appellant as to this point. This respondent has no additional or more convincing authority than that in the brief of the appellant and will therefore, rely upon the brief of the appellant. This respondent feels that the cases therein cited of *United States vs. Alabama*, 313 U. S. 274, *State vs. Salt Lake County*, 85 Pac. 2d 851 and *State vs. Duchesne County*, 85 Pac. 2d 860 definitely hold that when Cedar City Corporation took title to the property in question, that the property was already encumbered by 1958 taxes and when it accepted title with a provision in the deed that it would pay all taxes assessed, it could only have meant these 1958 taxes. Therefore, it is Cedar City Corporation which should refund the taxes if any are to be refunded.

Point III.

BEFORE THE PLAINTIFF UTAH PARKS COMPANY CAN RECOVER THE TAXES PAID, IT IS NECESSARY THAT THE TAXES WERE PAID UNDER PROTEST AS PROVIDED BY STATUTE.

It is the third contention of the defendant Iron County that these taxes, in order to be refunded, would have had to have been paid under protest, but the plaintiff admits that they were not. It is true that the plaintiff undoubtedly pays a great amount of taxes and undoubtedly pays them upon submission of the tax notice and in some instances, taxes are paid which probably would not have to be paid. However by the same token, the plaintiff undoubtedly has a great array of accountants and auditors who handle all tax problems and it would not have been any great burden on the plaintiff to have discovered what it is now claiming and paid these taxes under protest. The

recovery of taxes by the plaintiff will have to be upon one of two different statutes, one being Section 59-10-14, herein designated as the voluntary but absolutely void tax and the other being Section 59-11-11, U. C. A. or the payment under protest statute. Section 59-10-14 provides as follows:

“The board of county commissioners, upon sufficient evidence being produced that property has been erroneously or illegally assessed, may order the county treasurer to allow the taxes on that part of the property erroneously or illegally assessed to be deducted before payment of taxes. Any taxes, interest and costs paid more than once, or erroneously or illegally collected, may, by order of the board of county commissioners, be refunded by the county treasurer, and the portion of such taxes, interests and costs, paid to the state or any taxing unit, must be refunded to the county, and the proper officer must draw his warrant therefor in favor of the county.”

Section 59-11-11, Utah Code provides as follows:

“In all cases of levy taxes, licenses, or other demands for public revenue which is deemed unlawful by the party whose property is thus taxed, or from whom such tax or license is demanded or enforced, such party may pay under protest such tax or license, or any part thereof deemed unlawful, to the officers designated and authorized by law to collect the same; and thereupon the party so paying or his legal representative may bring an action in any court of competent jurisdiction against the officer to whom said tax or license was paid, or against the state, county, municipality or other taxing unit on whose behalf the same was collected, to recover said tax or license or any portion thereof paid under protest.”

These two sections have been discussed in several cases by the Supreme Court of Utah and in these cases, this court makes a distinction as to the nature of the claim. In the case of *Nielsen vs. Sanpete County*, 123 Pac. 334, the taxes had been assessed against some mortgages, for the years 1907, 1908 and 1909. Prior to 1906 mortgages could be taxed but in that year our Constitution was amended so as to eliminate mortgages from taxation and therefore, on January 1, 1907 and for all the subsequent years, such mortgages could not be taxed. Sanpete County, however, had assessed taxes for the years in question and they were not paid under protest. The assessment and

collection of these taxes were clearly void as they were in direct contravention of our Constitution. In that case the taxpayer presented a claim for a refund under Section 59-10-14 and when it was refused, filed the action. The Court, however, made a distinction when it said that it was obvious to anyone that the taxes were illegal from the first instance and that section 59-10-14 could be relied upon as a basis for a refund. This court stated, however, that in any instance where a refund was in doubt and would have to be ruled upon by a court, then it would be necessary that the taxes be paid under protest. It appears that such a situation prevails in this case in view of Sections 59-5-4 and 59-10-3, U. C. A. which impose upon the county assessor the duty of assessing and collection the taxes, irrespective of a transfer of the property, based upon the ownership as of January 1, particularly in view of the fact that the new owner, Cedar City Corporation, accepted the property under a covenant to pay the taxes. It is clear from the Nielsen case that Section 59-10-14 only applies when the tax assessed has always been void as this Court held, in using the language of the Nielsen case, this statute applies in situations where "it is clear the County has no authority to collect and where the County Commissioners may readily adjust the matter" and where the "illegality of the tax is absolutely assumed." But the case at bar is not such a case. The law provides that the county officers are to assess property as of the ownership on January 1 and it would be incumbent upon them to follow the law. This is not a situation where the tax had no semblance of legality or "warrant of law" to use Justice Wolfe's language in the Wilson case, *infra*, but instead presented a legal question upon which the County Commissioners could not rule as they would not understand the niceties of the law. Instead it would present a situation of whether or not the tax was lawful or unlawful, to use the language of Section 59-11-11 and in such cases the tax would be paid under protest so as to permit a court of competent jurisdiction to decide the issue. It is obvious that when Section 59-10-14 states that when "sufficient evidence" is presented to the County Commissioners more than merely a formal claim would have to be presented but instead "evidence" which would indicate beyond any doubt that the tax was illegal and void, and the County Commissioners could summarily adjust the matter.

The Utah case of *Wilson vs. Weber County*, 111 Pac. 2d 147 was another case which discusses the difference in

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